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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 

 

The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited financial statements of 

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for 

the financial year ended 31 December 2017. 

 

1. Opinion of Directors 

 

 In the opinion of the directors, 

 

 (a) the financial statements set out in page 9 to 58 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the 

financial position of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2017 and the financial performance, 

changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; and 

 

 (b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to 

pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

 

 The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue. 

 

2. Directors 

 

 The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement is: - 

 

 Ling Yew Kong 

 Er Kwong Wah 

 David Wang 

 

3. Arrangements to Enable Directors to Acquire Shares or Debentures 

 

 Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement 

whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by 

means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, other than 

as disclosed under “Share Options” in note 5 of this statement. 

 

4. Directors’ Interests in Shares or Debentures 

 

 According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, the directors holding office at the end of the financial 

year had no interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related companies, except as stated 

below: 

 

 Direct interest Indirect interest 

     

 

 

Name of Directors 

The Company 

At the beginning of 

financial year  

At the end of 

financial year 

 

At the beginning 

of financial year  

At the end of 

financial year 

 

Er Kwong Wah - - *6,000 *6,000 

Ling Yew Kong - - **91,665,800 **91,665,800 

 

* Er Kwong Wah is deemed to be interested in the shares held by his spouse, Chiang Siew Kheng. 

 

** Ling Yew Kong is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Alphasky Group Ltd, of which is wholly-

owned by Ling Yew Kong. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT  

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017  

 

 

5. Share Options 

 

 (a) The Firstlink Investments Corporation (2001) Share Option Scheme 

   

  The Firstlink Investments Corporation Limited (2001) Share Option Scheme (“the 2001 Scheme”) in 

respect of unissued ordinary shares in the Company was approved by the members of the Company at 

an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 May 2001 to replace the previous share option scheme. 

   

  Options to subscribe for 4,630,000, 4,770,000, 9,370,000, 44,130,000, 4,500,000 and 5,820,000 ordinary 

shares were granted on 5 July 2001, 10 July 2002, 24 November 2003, 10 April 2006, 26 March 2008 

and 30 April 2010 respectively. Details of these options have been disclosed in the Directors’ Statements 

for the financial years in which the options were granted. 

   

  Under the 2001 Scheme, the directors may at their discretion, grant options to directors and employees 

of the Company and subsidiaries to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company. The aggregate number 

of shares to be issued under the 2001 Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total issued shares of the 

Company. The 2001 Scheme shall remain in force for a maximum duration of 10 years. The share options 

may be granted up to a maximum discount of 20% to the subscription price and may be exercised in full 

or in respect of 1,000 shares or a multiple thereof, on the payment of the subscription price. 

 

 (b) Options outstanding 

   

  At 31 December 2017, options to take up 900,000 unissued shares in the Company under the 2001 

Scheme were outstanding, details of which are as follows: 

 

Date of 

grant  

No. of 

ordinary 

shares 

under 

options 

granted 

Balance at 

01.01.2017 

Cancelled / 

rejected / 

lapsed 

Balance at 

31.12.2017 

Original 

exercise 

price per 

share 

Adjusted 

exercise 

price per 

share 

 

 

Date of 

expiry 

     S$ S$  

30.04.2010 

  

1,820,000 900,000 - 900,000 0.072 - 

 

29.04.2020 

 

 (c) No options have been granted to controlling shareholders of the Company or their associates at the point 

of grant. 

 

 (d) Further details of the 2001 Scheme are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT  

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017  

 

 

6. Auditors 

 

 The auditors, K.C. CHAN & CO PAC, Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore, have 

expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

  

  

  

  

  

Ling Yew Kong  

Director  

  

  

  

  

  

Er Kwong Wah  

Director  

  

  

  

Dated: 7 June 2018  
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K. C.  CHAN & CO PAC 

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore 

 

 

 Office address: Telephone: (65) 6324 7718  

 105 Cecil Street Telefax     : (65) 6225 9110  

 #15-01 The Octagon    

 Singapore 069534   

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF  

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Qualified Opinion 

 

We have audited the financial statements of FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Company 

and the Group as at 31 December 2017, the consolidated statement comprehensive income, consolidated statement 

of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to 

the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of 

our report, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 

Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to give a true 

and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and financial position of the Company as at 31 

December 2017 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated 

cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date. 

 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

 

1. The independent auditor’s report for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 expressed a disclaimer 

of opinion. The basis for disclaimer opinion is disclosed in note 29(b) to the financial statements. 

 

As stated in note 9(b) to the financial statements, the Group had consolidated the results of Portico 

Holdings Pte. Ltd.. Adjustments for non-inclusive of the results of the Portico Holdings Pte. Ltd. in year 

2016 were taken up into the current year financial statements.  This constitute a non-compliance FRS 8 

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors which required the Company to correct 

material prior period errors retrospectively by restating the comparative amounts for the prior period.  The 

non-inclusive of Hosted Patio Pte. Ltd. and Portico (Prime) Pte. Ltd. in the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements from date of acquisition up to the Group loss its control constitute a non-compliance with FRS 

103 Business Combination and FRS 110 Consolidated financial statements. 

 
2. As stated in note 13 to the financial statements, no impairment loss has been recognised on the outstanding 

balances due by CEL of S$3,446,841. We have not received sufficient evidence to enable us to determine 

whether the carrying value of these receivable is fairly stated and fully recoverable. Any adjustments which 

may arise, due to the uncertainty in the recoverable value of these amounts have not included in these 

financial statements. 
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K. C.  CHAN & CO PAC 

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore 

 

 

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Cont’d) 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements(Cont’d) 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate 

Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting 

Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 

in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 

ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our qualified opinion. 

 

Other Matter 

 

The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 were audited by another auditor whose 

report dated 29 September 2017 expressed a disclaimer of opinion with emphasis of matter on these statements. 

The basis for disclaimer of opinion and emphasis of matter are disclosed in note 29(b) to the financial statements. 

 

Other Information 

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Statement [set 

out on pages 2 to 3]. 

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 

with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls 

sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or 

disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the 

preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

 

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
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K. C.  CHAN & CO PAC 

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore 

 

 

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Cont’d) 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

  

· Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control. 

  

· Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management. 

 

· Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

· Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 

fair presentation. 

  

· Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion. 

 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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K. C.  CHAN & CO PAC 

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore 

 

 

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Cont’d) 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 

subsidiaries corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

K. C. CHAN & CO PAC  

Public Accountants and  

Chartered Accountants  

  

  

Singapore  

   

  7 June 2018  
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Note 2017 2016

S$ S$

Revenue 2 1,414,887            50,908                 

Other income 3 120,085               225,663               

Employee benefits expense 4 (953,939)              (950,242)              

Depreciation 7 (50,232)                (49,505)                

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (1,499,950)           (20,442)                

Impairment loss on investment in associate 8 -                           (19,693)                

Impairment loss on unquoted investment (481,771)              (79,004)                

Operating lease expenses (281,839)              (260,848)              

Impairment loss of receivables (718,497)              (550,000)              

Impairment of club membership 13 (2,000)                  (5,000)                  

Impairment loss on investment not consolidated -                           (500,000)              

Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiary 695,454               -                           

Reversal of impairment loss on investment not consolidated in year 2016 500,000               -                           

Fair value loss from financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss (792,837)              (105,523)              

Exchange difference (47,568)                (32,641)                

Travelling and entertainment (37,264)                (121,944)              

Other expenses (128,669)              (215,273)              

Finance costs 6 (10,730)                (12,792)                

Share of loss of associate 8 (35)                       (204)                     

Loss before tax (2,274,905)           (2,646,540)           

Income tax expenses 5 -                           -                           

Loss, net of tax (2,274,905)           (2,646,540)           

Other comprehensive income:

Fair value gain / (loss) on available-for-sale financial assets 16 421,568               (512,240)              

Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (1,853,337)           (3,158,780)           

Loss attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent (1,477,935)           (2,646,540)           

Non-controlling interest (796,970)              -                           

(2,274,905)           (2,646,540)           

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent (1,056,367)           (3,158,780)           

Non-controlling interest (796,970)              -                           

(1,853,337)           (3,158,780)           

Group
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Plant and equipment 7 142,877          181,339          142,877          181,339          

Investment in associates 8 63,058            63,093            -                      -                      

Investment in subsidiaries 9 -                      -                      59,868            59,868            

Amounts due from subsidiaries and 

   associates
10 -                      -                      5,178,730       5,689,091       

Available-for-sale financial assets 11 1,336,784       1,205,695       -                      -                      

1,542,719       1,450,127       5,381,475       5,930,298       

Current assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or 

   loss
12 1,325,773       2,365,904       681,345          1,275,322       

Other current assets 13 4,033,778       3,510,305       4,033,778       3,510,305       

Cash and cash equivalents 14 1,819,727       2,572,857       602,612          1,079,844       

7,179,278       8,449,066       5,317,735       5,865,471       

Total assets 8,721,997       9,899,193       10,699,210     11,795,769     

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 

Share capital 15 130,926,719   130,926,719   130,926,719   130,926,719   

Capital reserves 16 (270,804)         (692,372)         1,279,062       1,279,062       

Accumulated losses (123,064,460)  (121,586,525)  (123,327,474)  (122,282,966)  

7,591,455       8,647,822       8,878,307       9,922,815       

Non-controlling interest -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total equity 7,591,455       8,647,822       8,878,307       9,922,815       

Non-current liabilities

Finance lease liabilities 17 168,766          206,143          168,766          206,143          

Current liabilities

Other payables 18 924,400          1,009,029       1,614,761       1,630,612       

Finance lease liabilities 17 37,376            36,199            37,376            36,199            

961,776          1,045,228       1,652,137       1,666,811       

Total liabilities 1,130,542       1,251,371       1,820,903       1,872,954       

Total equity and liabilities 8,721,997       9,899,193       10,699,210     11,795,769     

CompanyGroup
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Group  Share Capital 
 Capital 

Reserves 

 Accumulated 

losses 
 Total 

 Non-

Controlling 

Interest 

 Total Equity 

 S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 

Balance at 1 January 2016        130,926,719             (180,132)      (118,979,916)          11,766,671                          -          11,766,671 

Loss, net of tax                          -                          -          (2,646,540)          (2,646,540)                          -          (2,646,540)

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Fair value loss on available-for-sale financial assets (Note 16)                          -             (512,240)                          -             (512,240)                          -             (512,240)

Effect on disposal of subsidiary to non-controlling interest                          -                          -                 39,931                 39,931                          -                 39,931 

Balance at 31 December 2016        130,926,719             (692,372)      (121,586,525)            8,647,822                          -            8,647,822 

Subsidiary not consolidated in year 2016 

[Note 9(b)]
                         -                          -                          -                          -               796,970               796,970 

Loss, net of tax                          -                          -          (1,477,935)          (1,477,935)             (796,970)          (2,274,905)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Fair value gain on available-for-sale financial assets (Note 16)                          -               421,568                          -               421,568                          -               421,568 

Balance at 31 December 2017        130,926,719             (270,804)      (123,064,460)            7,591,455                          -            7,591,455 

Attributable to Equity Holders of Company
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

2017 2016
S$ S$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss, net of tax            (2,274,905)            (2,646,540)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of plant and equipment                   50,232                   49,505 

Fair value loss from financial assets, at fair value through profit or       

   loss
                792,837                 105,521 

(Gain) / loss on disposal of financial assets, at fair value through 

   profit or loss
              (498,165)                 438,584 

Gain on bagain purchase of subsidiary               (695,454)                          -   

Interest income               (703,238)                          -   

Interest expense                   10,730                   12,792 

Impairment loss of receivables                 718,497                 550,000 

Impairment of club membership                     2,000                     5,000 

Exchange differences of financial assets, at fair value through profit 

  or loss
                         -                     (2,161)

Exchange differences of financial assets, available-for-sale                   22,320                 (25,808)

Impairment loss on unquoted investment                 481,771                   79,004 

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries              1,498,950                   20,442 

Impairment loss on investment in associate / subsidiary                          -                   519,693 

Share of loss of associate                          35                        204 

Operating cash flow before working capital changes               (594,390)               (893,764)

Other receivables               (695,026)            (1,360,278)

Other payables                 (57,605)                   51,434 

Net cash used in operating activities            (1,347,021)            (2,202,608)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets, at fair value through profit 

   or loss
2,144,023            2,772,778            

Proceed from disposal of subsidiaries 1,000                   65,935                 

Acquisition of shares in subsidiary -                       (500,000)              

Purchase of plant and equipment (11,770)                -                       

Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets (236,326)              (124,956)              

Purchase of financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss (1,398,514)           (2,357,971)           

Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities                 498,413               (144,214)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest income 146,718               -                       

Interest paid (10,730)                (12,792)                

Changes in amount due to / loan form a director (27,024)                817,776               

Repayment of finance lease liabilities (36,200)                (36,432)                

Net cash generated from financing activities                   72,764                 768,552 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents               (775,844)            (1,578,270)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year              2,572,857              4,151,127 

Effects of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents                   22,714                          -   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year              1,819,727              2,572,857 

Group
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements. 

 

1. Significant Accounting Policies 

 

 (a) Basis of Preparation 

 

  The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial 

Reporting Standards (FRS). The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis 

except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.   

 

  Adoption of new and revised standards 

   

  The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that in 

the current financial year, the Company has adopted all the new and revised standards which are 

effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after 01 January 2017, including the Amendments 

to FRS 7 Disclosure Initiative. The adoption of these standards did not have any effect on the financial 

performance or position of the Company. 

   

  Standards issued but not yet effective 

   

  The Company has not adopted the following standards applicable to the Company that have been issued 

but not yet effective: 

 

  

Description 

Effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 

    

  Amendments to FRS 102 Classification and Measurement of Share-                                                            

based Payment Transactions 

1 January 2018 

  Amendments to FRS 40 Transfers of Investment Property 1 January 2018 

  FRS 109 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 

  FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 

  FRS 116 Leases 1 January 2019 

  Improvements to FRSs (December 2016) - Amendments to FRS 28                                 

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

1 January 2018 

  INT FRS 122 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 

Consideration 

1 January 2018 

  INT FRS 123 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019 

  Amendments to FRS 110 and FRS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets 

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

Date to be determined 

 

  Except for FRS 109 and FRS 116, the directors expect that the adoption of the other standards above 

will have no material impact on the financial statements in the year of initial application. The nature 

of the impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of FRS 109 and FRS 116 are described 

below. 
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (a) Basis of Preparation (Cont’d) 

 

  FRS 109 Financial Instruments 

 

  FRS 109 was issued in December 2014 to replace FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement and introduced new requirements for (i) the classification and measurement of financial 

assets and financial liabilities (ii) general hedge accounting and (iii) impairment requirements for 

financial assets.  

   

  Key requirements of FRS 109:  

 

  · All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of FRS 39 are now required to be 

subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt instruments that are 

held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that 

have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 

outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting 

periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved 

both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual 

terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVTOCI). All other debt instruments and equity investments are 

measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) at the end of subsequent accounting 

periods. In addition, under FRS 109, entities may make an irrevocable election, at initial 

recognition, to measure an equity investment (that is not held for trading) at FVTOCI, with 

only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.   

 

  · With some exceptions, financial liabilities are generally subsequently measured at amortised 

cost. With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL, FRS 109 

requires that the amount of change in fair value of such financial liability that is attributable to 

changes in the credit risk be presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition 

of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would 

create or enlarge an accounting mismatch to profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to 

the financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.   

 

  · In relation to the impairment of financial assets, FRS 109 requires an expected credit loss 

model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under FRS 39. The expected credit loss 

model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected 

credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In 

other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses 

are recognised.   
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AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (a) Basis of Preparation (Cont’d) 

 

  FRS 109 Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  · The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting 

mechanisms currently available in FRS 39. Under FRS 109, greater flexibility has been 

introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening 

the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk components 

of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test 

has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an ‘economic relationship’. 

Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced 

disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also been 

introduced. 

 

  RS 109 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early application 

permitted. Retrospective application is required, but comparative information is not compulsory. The 

Company is currently assessing the impact of FRS 109 and plans to adopt the standard on the required 

effective date. 

 

  FRS 116 Leases  

 

  FRS 116 was issued in July 2016 and will supersede FRS 17 Leases and its associated interpretative 

guidance. 

 

  The Standard provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their 

treatment in the financial statements of both lessees and lessors. The identification of leases, 

distinguishing between leases and service contracts, are determined on the basis of whether there is an 

identified asset controlled by the customer. 

 

  Significant changes to lessee accounting are introduced, with the distinction between operating and 

finance leases removed and assets and liabilities recognised in respect of all leases (subject to limited 

exceptions for short-term leases and leases of low value assets). The Standard maintains substantially 

the lessor accounting approach under the predecessor FRS 17. 

 

  FRS 116 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early adoption 

permitted if FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is also applied.   Both lessor and lessee 

are required to retrospectively apply FRS 116’s requirements upon application. However, FRS 116 

provides an option for a modified retrospective approach and certain practical expedients. The 

Company is currently assessing the impact of FRS 116 and plans to adopt the standard on the required 

effective date. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (b) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly 

liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an 

insignificant risk of changes in value.  

 

 (c) Taxes 

 

  (i) Current income tax 

    

   Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 

amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax 

laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end 

of the reporting period. 

    

   Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to 

items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to 

situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 

provisions where appropriate.  

 

  (ii) Deferred tax 

    

   Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the 

reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 

financial reporting purposes.  

    

   Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:  

    

   - Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 

transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

    

   - In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 

reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (c) Taxes (Cont’d) 

 

  (ii) Deferred tax (Cont’d) 

 

   Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of 

unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 

be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused 

tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:  

    

   - Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the 

initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 

and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 

loss; and  

    

   - In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent 

that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 

taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

 

   The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 

to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 

reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become 

probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

    

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 

year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.  

    

   Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or 

loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination 

is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 

 

  (iii) Sales tax  

    

   Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:  

    

   - Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the 

taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 

of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

    

   - Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (d) Plant and Equipment 

 

  All items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, plant and 

equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

 

  Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 

 

  Motor vehicle: 8 years 

Furniture, fittings and office equipment: 3 - 5 years 

 

  The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

   

  The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and 

adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.  

   

  An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 

are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in profit 

or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 

 

 (e) Lease 

 

  (i) Leasee 

 

  
 

Finance leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 

to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value 

of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any 

initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned 

between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant 

rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit 

or loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are 

incurred. 

 

  
 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is 

recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

 

  (ii) Lessor 

 

  
 

Operating leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in 

negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 

recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. The accounting policy for 

rental income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the 

relevant agreements. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they 

are earned. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (f) Revenue 

 

  Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the rendering of 

services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is presented net of taxes, rebates and 

discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group. 

 

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and related costs can be reliably measured, 

when it is probable that the collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured and when the 

specific criteria for each of the Group’s activities are met as follows: 

 

  Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

 

  Realised gains or losses arising from sale of financial assets are recognised when the Group has 

committed to sell the trading securities. 

 

  Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal outstanding 

and the effective rate over period of maturity, when it is determined such income will accrue to the 

Group. 

 

  Admin and secretarial fee is recognised when the service is rendered. 

 

  Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant 

agreements. 

 

 (g) Employee Benefits 

 

  (i) Defined contribution plans 

    

  
 

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws in Singapore 

in which it has operations. The Group make contributions to the Central Provident Fund 

scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined 

contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related 

service is performed. 

 

  (ii) Employee leave entitlement 

    

  
 

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they are accrued to 

the employees. The undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled wholly before 

twelve months after the end of the reporting period is recognised for services rendered by 

employees up to the end of the reporting period. The Company does not allow employee leave 

entitlements to be carried forward for more than 12 months. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (h) Government Grants 

 

  Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 

and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is 

recognised as deferred capital grant on the statement of financial position and is amortised to profit or 

loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments. 

 

  Where loans or similar assistance are provided by governments or related institutions with an interest 

rate below the current applicable market rate, the effect of this favourable interest is regarded as 

additional government grant. 

 

 (i) Foreign Currency 

 

  The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (S$), which is also the Company’s 

functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items 

included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 

 

  Transactions and balances - Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the functional 

currency of the Group and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency at exchange 

rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair 

value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 

measured.  

   

  Consolidated adjustments - On consolidation, currency translation differences arising from the net 

investment in foreign operations and borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges 

of such investments are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is 

disposed of, such currency translation differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

   

  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at 

the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

 (j) Borrowings Costs 

 

  All borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 

costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

 

  



 

 

Page 21 

 

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (k) Subsidiaries 

 

  A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is 

exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to 

affect those returns through its power over the investee.  

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost 

less impairment losses. 

 

 (l) Associates 

 

  An associate is an entity over which the Group has the power to participate in the financial and 

operating policy decisions of the investee but does not have control or joint control of those policies. 

   

  The Group account for its investments in associates and joint ventures using the equity method from 

the date on which it becomes an associate. 

 

  On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of 

the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted as goodwill and is 

included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair 

value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is included as 

income in the determination of the entity’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which 

the investment is acquired. 

 

  Under the equity method, the investment in associates are carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-

acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates. The profit or loss reflects the 

share of results of the operations of the associates. Distributions received from joint ventures or 

associates reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Where there has been a change recognised in 

other comprehensive income by the associates, the Group recognises its share of such changes in other 

comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and 

associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associates or joint ventures. 

 

  When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or joint 

venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 

payments on behalf of the associate. 

 

  After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an 

additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in associate. The Group determines at the end 

of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate or 

joint venture is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the 

difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value and 

recognises the amount in profit or loss. 

   

  The financial statements of the associates are prepared as at 31 December 2017. Where necessary, 

adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (m) Share Capital 

 

  Ordinary shares 

 

  Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

   

  Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental 

costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital. 

 

 (n) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

 

  The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 

If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes 

an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  

 

  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs 

of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 

generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where 

the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 

considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  

 

  Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are 

previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the 

impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous 

revaluation.  

 

  A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 

used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that 

is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment 

loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is 

measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 

 

 (o) Contingencies 

 

  A contingent liability is:  

 

  (i) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 

by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 

the control of the Group; or 

 

(ii) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because: - 

 

 It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation; or  

 The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (o) Contingencies (Cont’d) 

 

  A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the 

control of the Group. 

 

  Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the statements of financial position of the Group, 

except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and 

which the fair values can be reliably determined. 

 

 (p) Provisions 

 

  Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 

of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 

  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 

estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the 

obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 

discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 

finance cost. 

 

 (q) Club Membership 

 

  Club memberships were acquired separately and were initially measured at cost.  Subsequent to 

recognition, club memberships are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the cost may not be recoverable. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

 (r) Financial Instruments 

 

  (i) Financial Assets 

    

   Initial Recognition and Measurement 

    

   Financial assets are recognised on the statement of financial position when, and only when, 

the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The 

Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

 

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case 

of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

 

  



 

 

Page 24 

 

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (r) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  (i) Financial Assets (Cont’d) 

 

   Subsequent Measurement 

    

   The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follow: - 

 

   Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss  
    

   Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and 

financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling 

or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments 

entered into by the Company that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge 

relationships as defined by FRS 39. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives 

are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 

instruments. 

 

   Loans and Receivables 
    

   Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans 

and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 

impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables 

are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process. 

 

   Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 
    

   Available-for-sale financial assets include equity and debt securities. Equity investments 

classified as available-for-sale are those, which are neither classified as held for trading nor 

designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which 

are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to 

needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions. 

    

   After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair 

value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial asset are recognised in 

other comprehensive income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and 

losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the effective interest method are 

recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification 

adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. 

    

   Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured 

at cost less impairment loss. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (r) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  (i) Financial Assets (Cont’d) 

 

   Subsequent Measurement (Cont’d) 

 

   Derecognition 

    

   A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset 

has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the 

carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that 

had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. 

    

   All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the 

trade date i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way 

purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 

the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. 

 

   Impairment of Financial Assets 

    

   The Company assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any objective evidence 

that a financial asset is impaired. 

 

   Financial Assets Carried at Amortised Cost 
    

   For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Company first assesses individually whether 

objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 

significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the 

Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed 

financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with 

similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 

individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be 

recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

    

   If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost 

has incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s 

original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring 

any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is 

reduced through the use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or 

loss. 

    

   When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 

directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the 

allowance account are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (r) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  (i) Financial Assets (Cont’d) 

 

   Impairment of Financial Assets (Cont’d) 

 

   Financial Assets Carried at Amortised Cost (Cont’d) 
    

   To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has 

incurred, the Company considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant 

financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments. 

 

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 

related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 

recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does 

not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit 

or loss. 

 

   Financial Assets Carried At Cost 
    

   If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment 

where the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the 

issuer) that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount 

of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar 

financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods. 

 

   Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 
    

   In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence of 

impairment include (i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; (ii) information 

about significant changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the technological, 

market, economic or legal environment in which the issuer operates, and indicates that the cost 

of the investment in equity instrument may not be recovered; and (iii) a significant or prolonged 

decline in the fair value of the investment below its costs. Significant is to be evaluated against 

the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has 

been below its original cost. 

    

   If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between 

its acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its current fair value, 

less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from other 

comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment loss in respect 

of equity instruments are not recognised in profit or loss; increase in their fair value after 

impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (r) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  (i) Financial Assets (Cont’d) 

 

   Impairment of Financial Assets (Cont’d) 

 

   Available-for-Sale Financial Assets (Cont’d) 
    

   In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on 

the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for 

impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the 

current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in profit or 

loss. Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the 

asset and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose 

of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance income. If, 

in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increases can be 

objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or 

loss, the impairment loss is reversed in profit or loss. 

 

  (ii) Financial Liabilities 

    

   Initial Recognition and Measurement 

    

   Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when, and only when, 

the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group 

determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of other financial 

liabilities, plus directly attributable transaction costs. 

 

   Subsequent Measurement 

 

   The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follow:- 

    

   Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
    

   Financial liabilities at fair value  through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading 

and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value. Financial liabilities 

are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. 

This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not 

designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are 

also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 

    

   Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 

measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial 

liabilities are recognised in profit or loss. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (r) Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

 

  (ii) Financial Liabilities (Cont’d) 

 

   Subsequent Measurement (Cont’d) 

 

   Other Financial Liabilities 
    

   After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 

the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process. 

 

   Derecognition 

    

   A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 

cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 

lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 

modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 

liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying 

amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

 (s) Basis of Consolidation and Business Combinations 

 

  (i) Basis of Consolidation 

 

  
 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and 

its subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the 

subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for 

the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like 

transactions and events in similar circumstances. 

 

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from 

intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.  

 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 

obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.  

 

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in 

a deficit balance. 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (s) Basis of Consolidation and Business Combinations (Cont’d) 

 

  (i) Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d) 

 

   A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as 

an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

 

i. de-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their 

carrying amounts at the date when control is lost;  

 

ii. de-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;  

 

iii. de-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;  

 

iv. recognises the fair value of the consideration received;  

 

v. recognises the fair value of any investment retained;  

 

vi. recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;  

 

vii. re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. 

 

  (ii) Business Combinations and Goodwill  

 

  
 

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method.  Identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair 

values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods 

in which the costs are incurred and the services are received. 

 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at 

the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which 

is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in profit or loss.   

 

The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in 

the acquiree (if any), that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 

proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation, is recognised on the acquisition date 

at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 

net assets. Other components of non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date 

fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by another FRS.  

 

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business 

combination, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of 

the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the 

acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. In instances where the latter 

amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss 

on the acquisition date.  

 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 

less any accumulated impairment losses.  
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d) 
 

 (s) Basis of Consolidation and Business Combinations (Cont’d) 

 

  (ii) Business Combinations and Goodwill (Cont’d) 

 

  
 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from 

the acquisition date, allocated to the Group’s cash generating units that are expected to benefit 

from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the 

acquiree are assigned to those units.   

 

The cash-generating units to which goodwill have been allocated is tested for impairment 

annually and whenever there is an indication that the cash generating unit may be impaired. 

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-

generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. 

 

 (t) Transactions with Non-Controlling Interests 

 

  Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to 

owners of the Company. Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result 

in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying 

amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their 

relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 

interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 

equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 

 

2. Revenue 

 

 
3. Other Income 

 

 
  

2017 2016

S$ S$

Gain / (loss) on disposal of financial assets, at fair value through profit or 

loss 499,165               (438,585)              

Capital distribution 196,428               -                           

Interest income 703,238               468,837               

Dividend income 1,250                   11,000                 

Rental income 14,806                 9,656                   

1,414,887            50,908                 

Group

2017 2016

S$ S$

Water, electricity and internet income 3,116                   2,784                   

Others 116,969               222,879               

120,085               225,663               

Group
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4. Employee Benefits Expense 

 

 
5. Income Tax Expenses 

 

 

 

The income tax expense on the results for the financial year varies from the amount of income tax determined 

by applying the Singapore standard rate of income tax to results before taxation due to the following factors: 

- 

 

 
 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future 

taxable profits will be available against which the Company can utilise the benefits. 

 

  

2017 2016

S$ S$

Staff salaries and bonus 810,370               806,873               

Directors' fees 80,000                 80,000                 

Employer's contribution to Central Provident Fund 58,881                 56,055                 

Other staff allowances and expenses 4,688                   7,314                   

953,939               950,242               

Group

2017 2016

S$ S$

Tax expense attributable to profit is made of:

- Based on result of the financial year                            - -                           

- Under provision in prior year                            - -                           

                           -                            - 

Group

2017 2016

S$ S$

Loss before tax            (2,274,905)            (2,646,540)

Tax at applicable tax rate of 17% (2016: 17%)               (386,733)               (449,912)

Adjustments for:-

Tax effect on non-deductible expenses                 636,665                 449,912 

Tax effect on non-taxable income               (186,863)                            - 

Tax effect on exempt amount                   (6,501)                            - 

Tax effect on unrecognised deferred tax losses (50,917)                -                           

Tax effect on tax incentives (5,651)                  -                           

Tax expense per consolidated statement of comprehensive income                            -                            - 

Group
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5. Income Tax Expenses (Cont’d) 

 

 
 The unutilised tax losses are available for offset against future taxable profits of the Company subject to there 

being no substantial change in the shareholders as required by the relevant provisions of the Singapore 

Companies Act. This amount is subject to agreement with the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore and 

compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation. 

 

6. Finance Costs 

 

 
7. Plant and Equipment 

 

 

2017 2016

S$ S$

Unutilised tax losses 8,707,118            8,707,118            

Group

2017 2016

S$ S$

Interest on finance leases 10,730                 12,792                 

Group

Motor vehicle

Furniture, 

fittings and 

office equipment  Total 

S$ S$ S$

Group and Company

Cost

At 01.01.2016 and 31.12.2016 337,566               181,436               519,002               

Additions -                       11,770                 11,770                 

Disposals -                       (12,455)                (12,455)                

At 31.12.2017 337,566               180,751               518,317               

Accumulated Depreciation

At 01.01.2016 125,567               162,591               288,158               

Depreciation for the year 42,196                 7,309                   49,505                 

At 31.12.2016 167,763               169,900               337,663               

Depreciation for the year 42,196                 8,036                   50,232                 

Disposals -                       (12,455)                (12,455)                

At 31.12.2017 209,959               165,481               375,440               

Net carrying value

At 31.12.2017 127,607               15,270                 142,877               

At 31.12.2016 169,803               11,536                 181,339               
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7. Plant and Equipment (Cont’d) 

 

 The carrying amounts of motor vehicle and office equipment held under finance leases are S$127,608 (2016: 

S$169,803) and S$NIL (2016: S$682) at the reporting date, respectively. 

 

8. Investment In Associates 

 

 
 Movement in impairment loss:- 

 

 
 Movement in share of results of associates:- 

 

 
 During the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Group disposed 51% of its equity interest in Keluarga 

International Pte. Ltd. to a third party and thereon became an associate of the Group. 

 

 During the financial year, the Group disposed 50% of its equity interest in Firstlink Capital Management Pte. 

Ltd. to a third party and thereon became an associate of the Group. 

 

  

2017 2016

S$ S$

Unquoted equity, at cost 82,990                 -                       

Investment reclassfied from Note 9 -                       82,990                 

Accumulated impairment loss (19,693)                (19,693)                

Accumulated share of results of  

   associates

(239)                     (204)                     

63,058                 63,093                 

Group and Company

2017 2016

S$ S$

At the beginning of the financial 

   year
(19,693)                -                       

Current year -                       (19,693)                

At the end of the financial year (19,693)                (19,693)                

Group and Company

2017 2016

S$ S$

At the beginning of the financial 

   year
(204)                     -                       

Current year share of loss (35)                       (204)                     

At the end of the financial year (239)                     (204)                     

Group and Company
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8. Investment In Associates (Cont’d) 

 

 The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s and Company’s associate companies, not 

adjusted for the proportion of ownership interest held by the Group and Company, and accounted under equity 

method as follow:- 

 

 
 Details of the associate companies are as follows: 

 

 Name of Associate Companies 

(Country of Incorporation/ Business) 

Percentage of Equity Held Principal 

Activities 

  2017 2016  

     

 Firstlink Capital Management Pte. Ltd.1 50% - Dormant 

 (Formerly known as Global Payment Solutions     

Pte. Ltd.) 

   

 (Republic of Singapore)    

     

 Keluarga International Pte. Ltd.1 49% 49% Dormant 

 (Republic of Singapore)    

 

 1 Not required to be audited under Section 205B of the Singapore Companies Act. 

 

9. (a) Investment In Subsidiaries 

 

 
 

  

2017 2016

S$ S$

Total assets 129,107               129,178               

Total liabilities -                       -                       

Net assets 129,107               129,178               

Loss for the financial year (71)                       (258)                     

Group and Company

2017 2016

S$ S$

Unquoted equity investments, at cost

At beginning of the year 5,500,111            5,000,111            

Additions -                           500,000               

Disposals (100)                     -                           

At end of financial year 5,500,011            5,500,111            

Company
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9. (a) Investment In Subsidiaries (Cont’d) 

 

 
 Details of subsidiaries are as follow:-  

   

 Name of Subsidiary Companies  

 (Country of Incorporation/ Business) Percentage of Equity Held  Principal Activities 

  2017 2016  

     

 Subsidiaries (Unquoted) Held by the 

Company 
   

     

 Exquisite Concierge Pte. Ltd.1 

(Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Dormant 

     

 Glopeak Land Pte Ltd6 

(Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Lease of office space 

     

 Glopeak Properties And Hotels Pte Ltd1 

 (Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Dormant 

     

 Singatronics Investment Pte Ltd6 

(Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Investment holding 

     

 Firstlink Energy Pte Ltd1 

(Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Dormant 

     

 Firstlink Capital Pte Ltd6 

(Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Investment holding 

     

 Firstlink Investment Advisory Pte Ltd1 

(Republic of Singapore) 

100% 100% Investment holding 

     

 Firstlink Capital Management Pte. Ltd.1 

(Formerly Known As Global Payment 

Solutions Pte. Ltd.) 

(Republic of Singapore) 

- 100% Dormant 

     

 Cove Pacific Development Limited2 

(British Virgin Islands) 

100% 100% Dormant 

 

2017 2016

S$ S$

Impairment on investments

At beginning of the year (5,440,243)           (4,900,108)           

Impairment for the year -                           (540,135)              

Disposals 100                      -                           

At end of financial year (5,440,143)           (5,440,243)           

At end of financial year 59,868                 59,868                 

Company
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9. (a) Investment In Subsidiaries (Cont’d) 

 

 Details of subsidiaries are as follow:-  

   

 Name of Subsidiary Companies  

 (Country of Incorporation/ Business) Percentage of Equity Held  Principal Activities 

  2017 2016  

 

 Portico Holdings Pte. Ltd.1 

(Republic of Singapore) 

60% 60% Investment holding 

 

 Subsidiaries (Unquoted) Held by Portico 

Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“Portico Group”) 

   

     

 Portico Prime Pte. Ltd.3 4 

(Republic of Singapore) 

- 100% Restaurant and café 

     

 Hosted Patio Pte. Ltd.3 5 

(Republic of Singapore) 

- 100% Restaurant and café 

 

 1 Not required to be audited under Section 205B of the Singapore Companies Act. 
2 Not required to be audited under country of incorporation. 
3 On 14 August 2017, the Group published in the Business Times and give notice that two of the Portico 

Group’s subsidiaries, namely Hosted Patio Pte. Ltd. and Portico (Prime) Pte. Ltd. is to convene its 

respective Creditors’ Meeting Pursuant to Section 296 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50. The 

Management is of the view that there is no recoverable amount. 
4 Dissolved under creditors voluntary winding up as of 8 May 2018 
5 In liquidation – creditors’voluntary winding up as of  8 May 2018 
6 Audited by K.C. CHAN & CO PAC 

 

9. (b) On 1 February 2016, the Company acquired equity interest in Portico Group of 37.5%. On 1 December 

2016, the Group increased its interest in Portico Group from 37.5% to 60%. The cost of investment in 

the Portico Group was fully impaired during the financial year ended 31 December 2016. Portico 

Group comprised of Portico Holdings Pte. Ltd. and its 100% owned subsidiaries, Hosted Patio Pte. 

Ltd. and Portico (Prime) Pte. Ltd. (collectively known as the “Portico Group”). 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for financial year 31 December 2017 included the 

financial results and financial position of Portico Holdings Pte. Ltd.. Adjustments for non-inclusive 

of Portico Holdings Pte. Ltd. in financial year 31 December 2016 were taken up into the current year’s 

financial statements.   

 

The Management is of the view that the consolidated financial results and financial position of Hosted 

Patio Pte. Ltd. (“HPPL”) and Portico (Prime) Pte. Ltd. (“PPPL”) does not provide practical value to 

the shareholders as the Group loss its control of HPPL and PPPL when HPPL and PPPL were under 

insolvency proceeding during the year.  Since then, the Group ceased to have the power to govern the 

financial and operating policies of HPPL and PPPL. The financial results of HPPL and PPPL up to 

the date the Group loss of control were not taken up into the Group’s financial statements. 
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10. Amounts Due From Subsidiaries and Associates  

 

 
 Movement in allowance for impairment of amounts due from subsidiaries and associates are as follow:- 

 

 
 The non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries and associates are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed 

terms of repayment and represent quasi-equity loans granted by the Company. As such, the amounts are stated 

at cost. 

 

11. Available-For-Sale Financial Assets 

 

 
 Available-for-sale financial assets are analysed as follows: 

 

  

2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

Non-current

Non-trade 96,817                 -                           22,813,777          23,114,138          

Impairment loss (96,817)                -                           (17,635,047)         (17,425,047)         

-                           -                           5,178,730            5,689,091            

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

At beginning of financial year -                           -                           (17,425,047)         (16,875,047)         

Addition (96,817)                -                           (210,000)              (550,000)              

At end of financial year (96,817)                -                           (17,635,047)         (17,425,047)         

CompanyGroup

2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

Quoted equity shares, at fair value 145,800               156,075               -                       -                       

Unquoted investments, at cost 1,190,984            1,049,620            -                       -                       

1,336,784            1,205,695            -                       -                       

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

Listed equity securities:

- Equity securities - Singapore 145,800               156,075               -                       -                       

145,800               156,075               -                       -                       

Unquoted investments:

- Other 1,190,984            1,049,620            -                       -                       

1,336,784            1,205,695            -                       -                       

CompanyGroup
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12. Financial Assets At Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

 

 
13. Other Current Assets 

 

 
 Note A: 

 

Club memberships are stated net of allowance for impairment of S$202,000 (2016: S$200,000). An amount 

of S$2,000 (2016: S$5,000) was written off to profit or loss during the year.  

 

 Note B: 

 

Loan 1: Loan and interest receivable from China Environment Ltd (CEL) amounting to S$2,406,500 and 

S$945,341 (included in S$998,840) respectively is secured by given authority to procure the Chargor to 

execute and deliver a registration / deed of charge in respect of 100% of the issued shares of Fujian Dongyuan 

Environment Protection Co., Ltd. and Anhui Dongyuan Environmental Co., Ltd (an indirect 100% owned 

company by CEL) with an interest rate of 24% charged per annum and repayment extended to 20 January 

2020 (2016: 20 September 2016).  

 

Pursuant to the loan agreement, the loan carries a conversion option that allows (i) the loan to be converted 

into ordinary shares of the Borrower at the average of the last dealt prices of the Borrower’s shares 

immediately preceding the date of the conversion or (ii) to purchase the assets under charge. 

  

2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

Held for trading

Quoted equity securities, at fair 

   value

- Singapore 1,221,338            2,194,465            648,445               1,217,290            

- Malaysia 82,250                 145,080               32,900                 58,032                 

- London 22,185                 26,359                 -                       -                       

             1,325,773              2,365,904 681,345               1,275,322            

Group Company

 2017  2016  2017  2016 

S$ S$ S$ S$

Advances receivables from 

   associate
60                        -                       60                        -                       

Club memberships (Note A) 38,000                 40,000                 38,000                 40,000                 

Deposits 65,797                 65,797                 65,797                 65,797                 

Interest receivables (Note B, F) 998,840               442,350               998,840               442,350               

Prepayments 3,483                   3,556                   3,483                   3,556                   

Other receivables (Note E, F) 183,101               89,492                 183,101               89,492                 

Loan receivables (Note B, F) 2,514,197            2,643,430            2,514,197            2,643,430            

Loan receivable from a subsidiary 

   company (Note C)
-                       -                       -                       -                       

Deposits with investment property 

   company (Note D)
230,300               225,680               230,300               225,680               

             4,033,778              3,510,305              4,033,778              3,510,305 

Group Company



 

 

Page 39 

 

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

13. Other Current Assets (Cont’d) 

 

 Note B (Cont’d): 

 

Loan 2: Loan to GuangZhou Firstlink Environmental Co., Ltd. (GZFL) is secured by personal guarantee from 

Huang XinZhi, a director of GZFL with interest rate of 12% per annum and repayable on 20 November 2016. 

At the date of this statement, RMB 645,784 (2016: RMB 400,000) has been repaid. 

 

Note C: 

 

Loan to Portico Prime Pte. Ltd. is unsecured, repayable on demand and charged with an interest of 3% per 

annum. The amount owing has been impaired as the subsidiary company has been placed under creditors’ 

voluntary winding up. The average credit period on balances are 30 days (2016: 30 days). No interest is 

charged on the balances. 

 

Note D: 

 

Loan to Paul Leong Jee Hong is secured by either way of lump sum cash payment or by way of transfer of 

Malaysian-listed shares equivalent to the value of RM 1,000,000 with an interest of 20% (2016: 20%) per 

annum and repayable on 31 December 2018. 

 

Note E: 

 

Other receivables include administrative & secretarial services receivable from CEL amounting to S$95,000.  

 

Note F: 

 

On 20 April 2018, CEL informed SGX that its business operations in its PRC subsidiaries including Anhui 

Dongyuan Environmental Protection Co., Ltd has ceased and is waiting for the Court Auctions with regard 

to the properties secured under the Banks. CEL does not plan to pay off the Civil Suit liabilities as the long-

term plan is to either liquidate or dispose the PRC subsidiaries. As of 22 May 2018, the property of Anhui 

Dongyuan Environmental Protection Co; Ltd is under Judicial auction at RMB 75,780,000 (equivalent 

S$15,900,000) and the property was value at RMB 135,321,428 (equivalent S$28,400,000). The management 

believes no impairment loss is required for the outstanding balances due by CEL amounting to S$3,446,841. 

 

14. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

 
 Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 

 

  

2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

Cash at bank 1,815,727            2,570,683            598,612               1,077,670            

Cash on hand 4,000                   2,174                   4,000                   2,174                   

1,819,727            2,572,857            602,612               1,079,844            

Group Company
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15. Share Capital 

 

 

 
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All 

ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. 

 

Share options 

 

The Firstlink Investments Corporation Limited (2001) Share Option Scheme (the “2001 Scheme”) of the 

Company was approved by shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 May 2001. 

 

As at 31 December 2017, the total number of options granted under the 2001 Scheme which remained 

outstanding was 900,000 (2016: 900,000). These options have exercise prices of S$0.072. the date of expiry 

of the option is on 29 April 2020. 

 

Duration and size of scheme 

 

The 2001 Scheme shall be in force for a maximum period of 10 years from 17 May 2001. The aggregate 

number of shares in respect of options that may be granted on any date, when added the number of shares 

issued and issuable in respect of all options granted under the 2001 Scheme, shall not exceed 15% of the 

issued share capital of the Company on the day immediately preceding the date of grant of the options. 

 

Eligibility of participant 

 

Group employees and non-executive directors are eligible to participate in the 2001 Scheme. 

 

No controlling shareholders and their associates shall be eligible to participate in the 2001 Scheme. Pursuant 

to the terms under 2001 Scheme, a controlling shareholder is a person who exercises control over the 

Company and is defined as a person who controls directly or indirectly a shareholding of 15% or more of the 

Company’s issued share capital. 

 
Subscription price of options 

 

Pursuant to the terms of the 2001 Scheme, there are two types of options namely “Discounted Options” and 

“Non-discounted Options”. For Discounted Options, the maximum discount shall be 20% of the average of 

the last dealt prices per share of the Company on the Singapore Exchange for a period of five consecutive 

market days (“Market Price”) immediately prior to the relevant date of grant of options. For Non-discounted 

Options, the exercise price shall be equal to the market Price as at the date of grant of options. 

 

 

  

 Number of 

shares   
S$

 Number of 

shares   
S$

At 1 January and 31 December 492,313,121        130,926,719                 492,313,121 130,926,719        

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares

 2016  2017 

Group and Company
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15. Share Capital (Cont’d) 

 

 
Exercise of options 

 

The vesting period for share options granted at a discount is two years while for share options granted at no 

discount, the vesting period is one year. Once the options are vested, they are exercisable for a contractual 

term of 4 years and 9 years for non-executive directors and Group employees respectively. The option may 

be exercised in full or in part in respect of 1,000 shares or a multiple thereof, on the payment of the exercise 

price. 

 

Movement in the number of ordinary shares outstanding under the options at the end of the financial year and 

their exercise price are as follows: 
 

Date of 

grant 

No. of 

ordinary 

shares under 

options 

granted 

Balance at 

01 January 

2017 

Cancelled/ 

rejected/ 

lapsed 

Balance at 

31 

December 

2017 

Original 

exercise 

price 

per 

share 

Adjusted 

exercise 

price per 

share 

Date of 

expiry 

30.04.2010 1,820,000 900,000 - 900,000 0.072 - 29.04.2020 

 

 Fair value of share options 

 

The fair value of options granted is determined using the Trinomial valuation model, taking into account the 

terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. No share option expense was charged to the profit 

or loss during the financial year. The significant inputs to the model were: 

 

(i)   Option life of the outstanding options 

(ii)  Vesting period of one year from date of grant of the option 

(iii) Expected volatility of 84.33% 

(iv) Risk-free interest rate of 1.084% and 1.197% 

(v) Forfeiture rate representing the percentage of options which is expected to be forfeited due to the grantee 

leaving the Company in a year 

 

16. Capital Reserves 

 

 
  

2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

Share option reserve              1,279,062              1,279,062              1,279,062              1,279,062 

Fair value reserve            (1,549,866)            (1,971,434)                          -                            -   

              (270,804)               (692,372)              1,279,062              1,279,062 

CompanyGroup
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16. Capital Reserves (Cont’d) 

 

 Movement of reserves are as follow:-. 

 

 
 

17. Finance Lease Liabilities 

 

 
 The present values of finance lease liabilities are analysed as follow:- 

 

 
 

  

2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

Share option reserve

At beginning and end of financial 

year
             1,279,062              1,279,062              1,279,062              1,279,062 

Fair value reserve

At beginning of financial year            (1,971,434)            (1,459,194)                          -                            -   

Fair value gain / (losses)                 421,568               (512,240)                          -                            -   

At end of financial year            (1,549,866)            (1,971,434)                          -                            -   

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

Minimum lease payments payable:

   Due within one year                   46,164                   46,929                   46,164                   46,929 

   Due within two to five years                 184,568                 184,656                 184,568                 184,656 

   Due after five years                            -                   46,076                            -                   46,076 

                230,732                 277,661                 230,732                 277,661 

Finance charges                 (24,590)                 (35,319)                 (24,590)                 (35,319)

Total                 206,142                 242,342                 206,142                 242,342 

CompanyGroup 

2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

Present value:

   Due within one year                   37,376                   36,199                   37,376                   36,199 

   Due within two to five years                 168,766                 161,115                 168,766                 161,115 

   Due after five years                            -                   45,028                            -                   45,028 

                168,766                 206,143                 168,766                 206,143 

Total 206,142               242,342               206,142               242,342               

CompanyGroup 
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17. Finance Lease Liabilities (Cont’d) 

 

 The effective interest for finance leases is 5.01% (2016: ranging from 5.01% to 5.64%) per annum. Finance 

lease liabilities of the Group are effectively secured over the motor vehicle stated in Note 7, as the legal title 

is retained by the lessor and will be transferred to the Group upon full settlement of the finance lease 

liabilities. 

 

18. Other Payables 

 

 
 1 Loan from a director is intended for the purpose as part of the loan extended to China Environment Ltd 

under Note 13. The loan is unsecured, interest-free and repayable upon the receipt of the loan repayment 

from China Environment Ltd. 

 

 2 The amount owing are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 

 

19. (a)    Related Parties Transactions 

 

During the year, the Group and the Company had significant transactions with its subsidiaries which 

were carried out on terms agreed between the parties concerned not disclosed elsewhere in the financial 

statements as follow: 

 

 
 

  

2017 2016 2017 2016

 S$  S$  S$  S$ 

Amount due to a subsidiary
2 -                           -                           700,047               700,107               

Sundry payables 51,604                 31,664                 51,604                 31,664                 

Fund payable to fund manager -                           70,290                 -                           -                           

Loan from a director
1 820,000               832,400               820,000               832,400               

Accrued operating expenses 50,296                 70,175                 40,610                 61,941                 

Advance billing for services 2,500                   4,500                   2,500                   4,500                   

924,400               1,009,029            1,614,761            1,630,612            

CompanyGroup

2017 2016

S$ S$

Subsidiaries

Expenses of subsidiaries paid on behalf by the Company 343,074               314,204               

Expenses charged by subsidiaries 270,367               253,990               

Advances given to subsidiaries 847,352               1,659,841            

Repayment made by subsidiaries 1,430,000            1,069,000            

Company
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19. (b)    Key Management Compensation 

 

 

Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having the authority and responsibility for 

planning, directing and controlling activities of the Company. The directors and executive officers of 

the Company are considered as key management personnel of the Group. 

 

During the year, the Group had the following transactions with its director which is controlled, jointly 

controlled or significantly influenced by Group’s key management personnel based on terms agreed 

between relevant parties: 

 

 
20. Lease Commitments 

 

 Operating lease commitments – where the Group is the lessee 

  

 The Group leases office space from a non-related party under a non-cancellable operating lease agreement. 

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under the non-cancellable operating lease contracted for, are 

as follow:- 

 

 
21. Capital Commitment 

 

 In year 2012, the Group entered into a contract to make capital contributions of S$1,265,300 (equivalent to 

US$1,000,000) towards a limited partnership fund. 

 

As at 31 December 2017, the remaining capital contribution commitment amounted to approximately 

S$235,250 (2016: S$317,675). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

2017 2016

S$ S$

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 560,171               562,657               

Depreciation of motor vehicle for director's use 42,196                 42,196                 

Employer's contribution to defined contribution plans, including 17,340                 17,340                 

   Central Provident Fund

Directors' fees 80,000                 80,000                 

Group and Company

2017 2016

S$ S$

Due within one year 249,564               249,564               

Due after 1 year but within 5 years 72,790                 322,354               

322,354               571,918               

Group
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22. Financial Risk Management 

 

 The Group’s and the Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks from its operation. The key 

financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including foreign currency risk and interest 

rate risk). 

 

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks, which 

are executed by the management team. It is, and has been throughout the current and previous financial year, 

the Group’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken. 

 

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s exposure to the above-mentioned financial risks 

and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks. There has been no change to the 

Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risks. 

 

 (i)    Credit Risk 

 

 Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a 

loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties 

and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial 

loss from defaults. The Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of its counterparties’ financial 

condition and generally do not require a collateral. 

 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties fail to perform their 

obligations as at the end of the financial year in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is 

the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the statement of financial position. 

 

The carrying amounts of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for any 

allowances for losses, represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into 

account of the value of any collateral obtained. 
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (ii)   Liquidity Risk 

 

 The Group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities to 

enable the Group to support its normal operations. 

 

 The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s and Company’s financial liabilities. 

 

 
 

 

 

  

Carrying 

amount

Contractual 

cash flows

Within 1 

year

Within 2 to 

5 years

More than 5 

years

S$ S$ S$ S$ S$

Group

2017

Other payables 924,400        924,400        924,400        -                    -                    

Finance lease liabilities 206,142        230,732        46,164          184,568        -                    

1,130,542     1,155,132     970,564        184,568        -                    

Group

2016

Other payables 1,009,029     1,109,991     1,109,991     -                    -                    

Finance lease liabilities 242,342        277,661        46,929          184,656        46,076          

1,251,371     1,387,652     1,156,920     184,656        46,076          

Company

2017

Other payables 1,614,761     1,614,761     1,614,761     -                    -                    

Finance lease liabilities 206,142        230,732        46,164          184,568        -                    

1,820,903     1,845,493     1,660,925     184,568        -                    

Group

2016

Other payables 1,630,612     1,630,612     1,630,612     -                    -                    

Finance lease liabilities 242,342        277,661        46,929          184,656        46,076          

1,872,954     1,908,273     1,677,541     184,656        46,076          

Cash flows
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (iii)  Market risk 

 

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates 

will affect the Group’s income. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control 

market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk. 

 

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 

conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment 

to shareholders, return capital to shareholders.  

 

 (a) Foreign Currency risk 

   

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on its investments and interest income 

denominated in foreign currencies including Malaysia Ringgit (“MYR”), British Pound 

(“GBP”), United States Dollar (“USD”) and Chinese Yuan (“RMB”). As a result, the Group 

is exposed to movements in foreign currencies exchange rates. However, it is not the Group’s 

policy to enter into derivative forward foreign exchange contracts for hedging and speculative 

purposes. 

 

At the end of the financial year, the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities 

denominated in currencies other than the Group’s and the Company’s functional currency are 

as follows: 
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (iii)   Market Risk (Cont’d) 

 

 (a) Foreign Currency risk (Cont’d) 

 

 

Denominated in: S$ MYR GBP USD RMB Total

S$ equivalents S$ S$ S$ S$ S$ S$

Financial Assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 145,800             -                         -                         1,190,984          -                         1,336,784          

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,221,338          82,250               22,185               -                         -                         1,325,773          

Other current assets 973,099             281,437             -                         -                         2,775,759          4,030,295          

Cash and cash equivalents 702,253             1,117,474          -                         -                         -                         1,819,727          

3,042,490          1,481,161          22,185               1,190,984          2,775,759          8,512,579          

Financial Liabilities

Other payables 101,900             -                         -                         -                         820,000             921,900             

Finance lease liabilities 206,142             -                         -                         -                         -                         206,142             

308,042             -                         -                         -                         820,000             1,128,042          

Net assets 2,734,448          1,481,161          22,185               1,190,984          1,955,759          7,384,537          

Less: Net financial assets denominated in the respective entities' 

functional currencies (2,734,448)         -                         -                         -                         -                         (2,734,448)         

Net currency exposure -                         1,481,161          22,185               1,190,984          1,955,759          4,650,089          

Group

2017
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (iii)   Market Risk (Cont’d) 

 

 (a) Foreign Currency risk (Cont’d) 

 

 

Denominated in: S$ MYR GBP USD RMB Total

S$ equivalents S$ S$ S$ S$ S$ S$

Financial Assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 156,074             -                         -                         1,049,621          -                         1,205,695          

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,194,465          145,080             26,359               -                         -                         2,365,904          

Other current assets 772,196             275,791             -                         -                         2,458,762          3,506,749          

Cash and cash equivalents 1,540,593          1,032,264          -                         -                         -                         2,572,857          

4,663,328          1,453,135          26,359               1,049,621          2,458,762          9,651,205          

Financial Liabilities

Other payables 71,968               -                         -                         73,659               858,902             1,004,529          

Finance lease liabilities 242,342             -                         -                         -                         -                         242,342             

314,310             -                         -                         73,659               858,902             1,246,871          

Net assets 4,349,018          1,453,135          26,359               975,962             1,599,860          8,404,334          

Less: Net financial assets denominated in the respective entities' 

functional currencies (4,344,518)         -                         -                         -                         -                         (4,344,518)         

Net currency exposure 4,500                 1,453,135          26,359               975,962             1,599,860          4,059,816          

Group

2016
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (iii)   Market Risk (Cont’d) 

 

 (a) Foreign Currency risk (Cont’d) 

 

 

Denominated in: S$ MYR GBP USD RMB Total

S$ equivalents S$ S$ S$ S$ S$ S$

Financial Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 648,445             32,900               -                         -                         -                         681,345             

Other current assets 973,099             281,437             -                         -                         2,775,759          4,030,295          

Cash and cash equivalents 602,612             -                         -                         -                         -                         602,612             

2,224,156          314,337             -                         -                         2,775,759          5,314,252          

Financial Liabilities

Other payables 792,261             -                         -                         -                         820,000             1,612,261          

Finance lease liabilities 206,142             -                         -                         -                         -                         206,142             

998,403             -                         -                         -                         820,000             1,818,403          

Net assets 1,225,753          314,337             -                         -                         1,955,759          3,495,849          

Less: Net financial assets denominated in the Company's 

functional currency (1,225,753)         -                         -                         -                         -                         (1,225,753)         

Net currency exposure -                         314,337             -                         -                         1,955,759          2,270,096          

Company

2017
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22. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (iii)   Market Risk (Cont’d) 

 

 (a) Foreign Currency risk (Cont’d) 

 

 

Denominated in: S$ MYR GBP USD RMB Total

S$ equivalents S$ S$ S$ S$ S$ S$

Financial Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,217,290          58,032               -                         -                         -                         1,275,322          

Other current assets 772,196             275,791             -                         -                         2,458,762          3,506,749          

Cash and cash equivalents 1,079,844          -                         -                         -                         -                         1,079,844          

3,069,330          333,823             -                         -                         2,458,762          5,861,915          

Financial Liabilities

Other payables 763,841             -                         -                         3,369                 858,902             1,626,112          

Finance lease liabilities 242,342             -                         -                         -                         -                         242,342             

1,006,183          -                         -                         3,369                 858,902             1,868,454          

Net assets / (liabilities) 2,063,147          333,823             -                         (3,369)                1,599,860          3,993,461          

Less: Net financial assets / (liabilities) denominated in the 

Company's functional currency (2,063,147)         -                         -                         -                         -                         (2,063,147)         

Net currency exposure -                         333,823             -                         (3,369)                1,599,860          1,930,314          

2016

Company
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23. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d) 

 

 (iii)   Market Risk (Cont’d) 

 

 (a) Foreign Currency risk (Cont’d) 

 

 Sensitivity analysis 

  

 It is estimated that seven percentage point strengthening in foreign currencies against the 

Singapore Dollar would increase the Group’s and the Company’s loss before the tax and 

revenue reserve by S$325,506 and S$158,907 (2016: S$284,187 and S$135,122) respectively. 

A seven-percentage point weakening in foreign currencies against the Singapore Dollar would 

have an equal but opposite effect. The analysis assumed that all other variables, in particular 

interest rate, remain constant and does not take into account the associated tax effects. 

 

 (b) Price risk 

 

 The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of the investments held by the 

Group which are classified on the statement of financial position as available-for-sale financial 

assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

 A 10% increase / decrease in the underlying equity prices at the reporting date would increase 

/ decrease equity and the results of the Group and Company by the following amounts assuming 

all other variable remain constant: 

 

 
 (c) Interest rate risk 

 

 The Group is exposed to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to its surplus 

funds placed with banks. Surplus funds are placed with banks with short-term maturities so as 

to provide the Group with the flexibility to meet working capital and investment needs. 

 

The Group’s borrowings are in fixed rate instruments and are therefore not subject to cash flows 

interest rate risks. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

Equity - capital reserve 133,678             120,570             -                         -                         

Profit or loss 132,577             236,790             68,134               127,532             

Group Company
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24. Fair Value Estimation of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

 

 The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled 

between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

 

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial 

instruments for which it is practicable to estimate that value. 

  

(a) 

 

 

 

 

(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

(c) 

 

Cash and bank balances, other receivables and other payables 

 

The carrying amounts of these balances approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of 

these balances. 

 

Other receivables and other payables 

 

The carrying amounts of these receivables and payables (including trade balances due from / to holding 

and related companies) approximate their fair values as they are subject to normal trade credit terms. 

 

Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value 

 

The following table present financial assets measured at fair value and classified by level of the 

following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

 

(i) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 

(ii) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and 

(iii) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 

(Level 3). 

 

  Impairment of Investments 

   

  Management reviews its financial assets for objective evidence of impairment at least quarterly. 

Significant or prolonged declines in the fair value of the security below its cost and the disappearance 

of an active trading market for the security are considered objective evidence that a financial asset is 

impaired. 
 

In determining this, management evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the 

fair value of a financial asset is less than its cost, the financial health of and the near-term business 

outlook of the issuer of the instrument, including factors such as industry and sector performance, 

changes in technology and operational and financing cash flow. 

   

  As at the statements of position date, the Group and the Company carried out a review on the 

recoverable amount of its investment in available-for-sale financial assets, subsidiaries and associate 

companies. During the financial year, no allowance for impairment loss has been recognised. The 

recoverable amount of the relevant investments have been determined on the basis of their net assets 

values at the date of the statement of financial position as in the opinion of the director of the Company, 

the net assets values of the investment reasonably approximate the fair values less costs to sell. 

 

  The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair 

value hierarchy is as follow:- 
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24. Fair Value Estimation of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Cont’d) 

 

 (c) Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value (Cont’d) 

 

 
 

 

 

  

Quoted prices in Significant Significant

active markets observable unobservable

for identical inputs other inputs

instruments than quoted

prices

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

2017

Available-for-sale financial 

   assets

- Quoted equity investments 145,800               - -                           145,800               

- Unquoted equity 

      investments
-                           - 1,190,984            1,190,984            

Financial assets, at fair value 

      through profit or loss
1,325,773            -                           - 1,325,773            

1,471,573            -                           1,190,984            2,662,557            

2016

Available-for-sale financial 

   assets

- Quoted equity investments 156,075               - -                           156,075               

- Unquoted equity 

       investments
-                           - 1,049,620            1,049,620            

Financial assets, at fair value 

       through profit or loss
2,365,904            -                           - 2,365,904            

2,521,979            -                           1,049,620            3,571,599            

2017

Financial assets, at fair value 

    through profit or loss
681,345               - -                           681,345               

2016

Financial assets, at fair value 

   through profit or loss
1,275,322            - -                           1,275,322            

Company

Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using

S$

Total

Group
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24. Fair Value Estimation of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Cont’d) 

 

 (c) Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value (Cont’d) 

 

  The following table present the changes in Level 3 Instruments: 

 

 
 (d) The fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 

amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value is as follow:- 

 

Company Carrying amount Fair values 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 S$ S$ S$ S$ 

Non-current financial assets 

Amounts owing by subsidiaries 5,187,730 5,689,091 * * 

 

 * The fair value information has not been disclosed for amounts owing by subsidiaries because fair 

value cannot be measured reliably.  

 

25. Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgments 

  

 Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgments are made in the preparation of the financial 

statements. They affect the application of the Company’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based 

on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances. 

 

 (a) Uncertain Tax Positions 

   

  Significant judgment is involved in determining the capital allowance and deductibility of certain 

expenses during the estimation of the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and 

calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of 

business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates whether 

additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts 

that were initially recorded, such difference will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in 

the period in which such determination is made. 

 

  

2017 2016

S$ S$

Opening balance 1,049,620            977,860               

Purchase 237,789               124,955               

Return in capital call (1,463)                  -                           

Exchange loss (45,034)                -                           

Net changes in fair value (49,928)                25,809                 

1,190,984            1,128,624            

Impairment -                           (79,004)                

Closing balance 1,190,984            1,049,620            

Group
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26. Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgments (Cont’d) 

 

 (b) Depreciation of Plant and Equipment 

   

  Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 

Management estimates the useful lives of these plant and equipment range from 3 – 8 years. The 

carrying amount of the Group’s and Company’s plant and equipment at 31 December 2017 was 

S$142,877 (2016: S$181,339) and S$142,877 (2016: S$181,339) respectively. 

 

Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic 

useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be 

revised. 

 

 (c) Impairment of Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 

   

  The Group follows the guidance of FRS 39 in determining when an investment is other-than-temporary 

impaired. This determination requires significant judgment. The Group evaluates, among other factors, 

the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its carrying amount; and 

extend to which the fair value of an investment is less than its carrying amount; and the financial health 

of and near-term business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector 

performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flows.  

 

The directors are of the opinion that no allowance for impairment on available-for-sale financial assets 

as at reporting date is necessary. The carrying amounts of available-for-sale financial assets at reporting 

date were as follows: 

 

 Group  Company 

 2017 2016  2017 2016 

 S$ S$  S$ S$ 

      

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,336,784 1,205,695  - - 

 

 (d) Impairment of Loans and Receivables 

   

  Management reviews its loans and receivables for objective evidence of impairment on a regular basis. 

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and 

default or significant delay in payments are considered objective evidence that a receivable is impaired. 

In determining this, management makes judgment as to whether there is observable data indicating that 

there has been a significant change in the payment ability of the debtor, or whether there have been 

significant change in the payment ability of the debtor, or whether there have been significant changes 

with adverse effect in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the debtor 

operates. Where there is objective evidence of impairment, management makes judgment as to whether 

an impairment loss should be recorded in the profit or loss. In determining this, management uses 

estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The 

carrying amounts of loans and receivables of the Group and Company at reporting date are disclosed 

in Note 13. 

 

 (e) Judgments Made In Applying The Group’s Accounting Policies 

   

  In the process of applying the Groups accounting policies, the directors are of the opinion that there is 

no application of judgment on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
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27. Financial Instruments by Category 

  

 At the reporting date, the aggregate carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities were as 

follows:- 

 

 
28. Continuing Financial Support 

  

 During the financial year, the Company had given an undertaking to its subsidiaries, Glopeak Land Pte Ltd 

and Firstlink Capital Pte Ltd to provide financial support to enable them to operate as going concern and to 

meet their obligations for at least 12 months from the respective date of their auditor’s report. 

 

29. (a) Comparative Figures 

   

  The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 were audited by another firm 
of Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore. These are presented here merely for 
comparative purposes. 

 

 (b) Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion and Emphasis of Matter on the Financial Statements for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2016 

   

  The independent auditor’s report dated 29 September 2017 expressed a disclaimer opinion and 
emphasis of matter on the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. The 
extract of the basis of disclaimer opinion and emphasis of matter is as follow: 

   

  Disclaimer Opinion 

  On 1 February 2016, the Company acquired equity interest in Portico Group of 37.5%. On 1 

December 2016, the Group increased its interest in Portico Group from 37.5% to 60%. The cost of 

investment in the Portico Group was fully impaired during the financial year ended 31 December 

2016. [Portico Group comprised of Portico Holdings Pte. Ltd. and its 100% owned subsidiaries, 

Hosted Patio Pte. Ltd. and Portico (Prime) Pte. Ltd. (collectively known as the “Portico Group”)]. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2017 2016 2017 2016

S$ S$ S$ S$

Financial assets

Loan and receivables 5,850,022            6,079,606            4,632,907            4,586,593            

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,336,784            1,205,695            -                           -                           

Financial assets at fair value 

   through profit or loss
1,325,773            2,365,904            681,345               1,275,322            

8,512,579            9,651,205            5,314,252            5,861,915            

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Other payables 921,900               1,009,029            1,612,261            1,626,112            

Finance lease liabilities 206,142               242,342               206,142               242,342               

1,128,042            1,251,371            1,818,403            1,868,454            

Group Company
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29. (b) Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion and Emphasis of Matter on the Financial Statements for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2016 (Cont’d) 

   

  Disclaimer Opinion (Cont’d) 

  The management had furnished us with certain accounting records and a set of management accounts 

of the Portico Group. However, we are in no capacity to ascertain the completeness of the records in 

the absence of an audit. Limitation of scope was imposed by management on grounds of fees and time 

constraint. Hence we are restricted from performing any audit procedures necessary to satisfy 

ourselves as to whether the management accounts of the Portico Group are in form and content 

appropriate for the consolidated financial statements. Management has not agreed to us performing 

any alternative procedures. 

 

In the absence of an audited financial statements, we are unable to quantify the effect and the impact 

on the consolidated financial statements to determine whether any adjustments might have been found 

necessary in respect of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly the consolidated financial 

statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 do not include the results of the Portico 

Group. 

 

The non-inclusion of the results of the Portico Group in this set of consolidated financial statements 

constitute a non-compliance with FRS103 Business Combination and FRS110 Consolidated Financial 

Statements. 

   

  Emphasis of Matter 

  We draw attention to Note 24 to the financial statements which highlighted that, on 14 August 2017, 

the Group published in the Business Times and gave notice that two of the Portico Group’s 

subsidiaries, namely Hosted Patio Pte. Ltd. and Portico (Prime) Pte. Ltd. is to convene its respective 

Creditors’ Meeting Pursuant to Section 296 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50. The management is 

of the view that there is no recoverable amount. 

   

  Extraction of Note 24 as follow: 

   

  On 14 August 2017, the Group published in the Business Times and gave notice that two of the Portico 

Group’s subsidiaries, namely Hosted Patio Pte. Ltd. and Portico Prime Pte. Ltd. is to convene its 

respective Creditors’ Meeting Pursuant to Section 296 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50. The 

management is of the view that there is no recoverable amount. 

 

30. General 

  

 The Company is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with its registered office and principal place of 
business is situated at 1 Phillip Street, #08-01 Royal One Phillip, Singapore 048692. 

  

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries and 

associates are disclosed in Note 8 and 9 to the financial statements. 

  

 There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 

 

31. Authorisation of Financial Statements 

  

 These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of 
Directors of FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED on 7 June 2018. 

 



SHARE CAPITAL INFORMATION AS AT 7 JUNE 2018

Number of Issued Shares : 492,313,121

Class of Shares : Ordinary share fully paid

Voting rights : One vote per share

TOP 20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 7 JUNE 2018

No. Name No. of shares %

1 ALPHASKY GROUP LIMITED 91,665,800 18.62

2 CAI JUEQIANG 19,000,000 3.86

3 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 18,541,800 3.77

4 NG HENRY HONG 14,578,002 2.96

5 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES S'PORE PTE LTD   12,000,000 2.44

6 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD   11,052,540 2.25

7 LEE SUI HEE                   10,872,000 2.21

8 KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.  9,168,600 1.86

9 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD          8,859,466 1.80

10 HOO LEN YUH                   5,686,600 1.16

11 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD    5,093,000 1.03

12 GOH SEH KIAT 5,000,000 1.01

13 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE  PRIVATE LIMITED  4,967,200 1.01

14 TAN THIAM HIN                 4,200,000 0.85

15 CHEN SONGQIN 3,800,000 0.77

16 HUN SIO WA 3,170,000 0.64

17 LALCHAND JETHANAND DARYANANI  2,998,000 0.61

18 TAM KWOK WING                 2,830,000 0.57

19 MUN HON PHENG                 2,800,000 0.57

20 SHUKEI TOKUDA                 1,861,800 0.38

TOTAL 238,144,808 48.37
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED
Company Registration No. 197802562E

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Thirty-Ninth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at TKP 
Conference Centre Raffles Place, 55 Market Street #03-01, Singapore 048941 on 28 June 2018 at 10.00am, to transact 
the following business:

AS ROUTINE BUSINESS:

1.  To receive the Audited Financial Statements for financial year ended 31 December 2017 together with the 
Directors’ Statement and Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1) 

2.  To re-elect Mr. Er Kwong Wah as Director of the Company pursuant to Article 99 of the Company’s 
Constitution. (Resolution 2)

3.  To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$80,000 for the financial year ending 31 December 2018  
(2017: S$80,000), to be paid quarterly in arrears to the Directors.  (Resolution 3)

4.  To re-appoint Messrs. K.C.Chan & Co PAC as Auditors of the company to hold office until the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.  
 (Resolution 4)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS:

5.  To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as Ordinary Resolution, with or without 
modifications:

Ordinary Resolution:

Authority to issue and allot shares

“THAT pursuant to provisions of Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and notwithstanding 
the provisions of Article 48(1) of the Company’s Constitution but subject otherwise to the provisions of the 
Act and the Company’s Constitution, the Directors be and are hereby authorised to allot and issue shares in 
the capital of the Company (whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise) where the aggregate number of 
shares to be issued pursuant to such authority does not exceed 50% of the total number of issued shares of the 
Company for the time being, of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro-rata 
basis to existing shareholders does not exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares of the Company for 
the time being, at any time and for such purposes and to such persons on such terms and conditions and with 
such rights or restrictions as they may in their absolute discretion think fit to impose and that such authority 
shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting or the expiration of the period 
within which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is 
earlier.”
[See Explanatory Note (i)] (Resolution 5)

6.  To transact any other routine business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Lydia Liew Su Sin
Company Secretary

Singapore, 12 June 2018

�
�
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Explanatory Note:

(i) Resolution 5, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company effective from the date of this Annual General Meeting until the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company at a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue 
shares, up to a number not exceeding, in aggregate 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of 
the Company, of which the total number of shares and convertible securities issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders 
shall not exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company at the time the resolution is passed, 
for such purposes as they consider would be in the interests of the Company.

Notes:

a) A member (other than a Relevant Intermediary*) of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting of the Company is 
entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

b) Where a member (other than a Relevant Intermediary*) of the Company appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless 
he/she shall specify the proportion of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

c) A corporation which is a member may by resolution of its directors or other governing body authorise such person as it thinks fit to act 
as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with its Constitution and Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 
of Singapore, and the person so authorised shall upon production of a copy of such resolution certified by a director of the corporation to 
be a true copy, be entitled to exercise the powers on behalf of the corporation so represented as the corporation could exercise in person 
if it were an individual.

d) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be in writing and in the case of an individual, shall be signed by the appointer or 
by its attorney. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it shall be signed by its attorney or by 
an officer on behalf of the corporation executed with or without common seal pursuant to Section 41 of the Singapore Companies Act, 
Chapter 50.

e) Completion and return of the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies by a member will not prevent him/her from attending, speaking 
and voting at the Annual General Meeting if he/she so wishes. The appointment of the proxy(ies) for the Annual General Meeting will 
be deemed to be revoked if the member attends the Annual General Meeting in person and in such event, the Company reserves the right 
to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the relevant instrument appointing a proxy or proxies to the Annual General 
Meeting.

f) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies, or the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed, must 
be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at 1 Phillip Street, #08-01 Royal One Phillip, Singapore 048692 not less than  
forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting or adjourned meeting.

* A “Relevant Intermediary” is:

“Relevant intermediary” has the same meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50.

a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap. 19) or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking corporation, whose 
business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity; or

b) a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures Act  
(Cap. 289) and who holds shares in that capacity; or

c) the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36), in respect of shares purchased under the 
subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the contributions and interest standing to the 
credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in 
accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting and/or any 
adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company 
(or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of the processing, administration and analysis by the Company (or its agents or service 
providers) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and 
compilation of the attendance lists, proxy lists, minutes and other documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment 
thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations  
and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies)  
and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents or service providers), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, 
claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED
Company Registration No. 197802562E

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

I/We*,  NRIC/Passport/Co Reg No.*:  

of  (Address) 
being a member/members* of FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No.* Proportion of Shareholdings

No.  of Shares %

Address

and/or*

Name NRIC/Passport No.* Proportion of Shareholdings

No.  of Shares %

Address

or failing him/her/them*, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our* proxy/proxies* to attend and vote for me/us* on my/our* 
behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the Thirty-Ninth Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be 
held at TKP Conference Centre Raffles Place, 55 Market Street #03-01, Singapore 048941 on 28 June 2018 at 10.00am and at 
any adjournment thereof.  

I/We* hereby direct my/our* proxy/proxies* to vote “for” or “against” the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated 
hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any 
adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies* will vote or abstain from voting at his/her/their* discretion.
(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with an [X] within the box provided. 

NO. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 
December 2017 together with the Directors’ Statement and Auditors’ Report 
thereon.

2. To re-elect Mr. Er Kwong Wah as Director of the Company pursuant to 
Article 99 of the Company’s Constitution.

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$80,000 for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2018 (2017: S$80,000), to be paid quarterly in arrears 
to the Directors.

4. To re-appoint Messrs. K.C.Chan & Co PAC as Auditors of the company to 
hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.  

Special Business

5. Authority to issue new shares pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, 
Cap. 50.

Note: Please note that the short descriptions given above of the Resolutions to be passed do not in any way whatsoever 
reflect the intent and purpose of the Resolutions. The short descriptions have been inserted for convenience only. 
Shareholders are encouraged to refer to the Notice of Annual General Meeting for the full purpose and intent of 
the Resolutions to be passed.

Dated this  day of  2018
Total Number of Shares Held

Signature(s) or Common Seal of Member(s)
* Delete accordingly

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

�
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IMPORTANT NOTES TO PROXY FORM:

1.  A member (other than a Relevant Intermediary*) of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting of the Company is entitled 
to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2.  Where a member (other than a Relevant Intermediary*) of the Company appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless  
he/she shall specify the proportion of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

3.  A corporation which is a member may by resolution of its directors or other governing body authorise such person as it thinks fit to act 
as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with its Constitution and Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of 
Singapore, and the person so authorised shall upon production of a copy of such resolution certified by a director of the corporation to be a 
true copy, be entitled to exercise the powers on behalf of the corporation so represented as the corporation could exercise in person if it were 
an individual.

4.  The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be in writing and in the case of an individual, shall be signed by the appointer or by its 
attorney. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it shall be signed by its attorney or by an officer 
on behalf of the corporation executed with or without common seal pursuant to Section 41 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50.

5.  Completion and return of the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies by a member will not prevent him/her from attending, speaking and 
voting at the Annual General Meeting if he/she so wishes. The appointment of the proxy(ies) for the Annual General Meeting will be deemed 
to be revoked if the member attends the Annual General Meeting in person and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to 
admit any person or persons appointed under the relevant instrument appointing a proxy or proxies to the Annual General Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies, or the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed, must be deposited 
at the Company’s Registered Office at 1 Phillip Street, #08-01 Royal One Phillip, Singapore 048692 not less than 48 hours before the time 
appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting or adjourned meeting.

Affix  
postage  
stamp  
here

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED
1 Phillip Street

#08-01 Royal One Phillip
Singapore 048692

7. A member should insert the total number of shares held by you. If the member has shares registered in his/her name in the Register of 
Members of the Company, he/she should insert that number of shares.  If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate 
to all the shares held by member of the Company.

8. The Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument of proxy which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true 
intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the instrument of proxy.  

* A “Relevant Intermediary” is:

(a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap. 19) or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking corporation, whose 
business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(b) a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures Act  
(Cap. 289) and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(c) the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36), in respect of shares purchased under the 
subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the contributions and interest standing to the 
credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in 
accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

Personal Data Privacy

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the Personal Data Privacy term 
as set out in the Notice of the Annual General Meeting dated 12 June 2018. 
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